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1. TimeJines·s: Tills motion is timely filed. 

AE 375(MAH) 

Defense Motion 
t() Compel Production of Discovery 

R~quest~d on I August 2014 Concerning 
lnterrog:ati()ns atld Oth~r Matter$ 

Filed: I October 2015 

2. Relief Soueht: In .accordance with RM.C. 703(f)(4)(B) and 703(e)(2), the Defense moves this 

Commission to order the Government to produce various items from its discovery reques1 of 1 

August 2014, and especially to produce original recordings and! notes from the interrogations of 

the accused between 2003 and 2006; or, if that evidence has been lost or destroyed, evidence 

concerning that destruction or loss. The Defense also requests tthat the Government be ordered to 

perfotm its due diligence obligations with regard to such evidence, as it has refused to do in some 

cases. 

3. Burdep and Standard offroof: The burden of persuasion on this motion rests with the 

Defense . R.M.C. 9-0S(c). 

4.~: 

A. Background 

a. On 2 July 2014, the Government provided the defens~ wi'th over 600 pages. of 

English summaries of interrogations of the accused by the CIA. The Government did not proovide, 
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or offer to provide, any of the original materials on which these summaries were based- such as 

recordings of the interrogations or notes taken by the interrogators. 

b. Many of the interrogations, both of Mr. al Hawsawi and others, strongly focus on 

Mr. al Hawsawi and his role in the 9/ 11 attacks (e.g., att. D-H). 

c. On 1 August 2014, the Defense asked for discovery related to these summaries 

(att. B). 

B. Matters for Which the Prosecution Refused to Perfor m Due Diligence 

d. The defense request included "all audio and video recordings of the interrogations 

of Mr. al Hawsawi and his co-accused, regardless of whether these recordings were made known to 

the government agents conducting the interrogations." (att. B, para. lf) 

e. On 29 August 2014, the Government responded, refusing to provide the 

recordings. In so doing, it stated that the Prosecution (note: "the Prosecution," not "the 

Government") was unaware of any such recordings. It did not claim to have performed any due 

diligence on the subject (att. C, para. 2f). 

f. The Defense request included notes taken by agents who observed the 

interrogations. The Government refused, claiming that production of these notes "if, in fact, any 

were taken" would not be warranted unless the Government itself chose to call the agents who took 

them. Again, the Government did not claim to have performed any due diligence (att. C, para. 3c). 

g. The Defense likewise requested all audio and video recordings of Mr. al Hawsawi 

made while he was in custody. The Government's response again stated that the Prosecution was 

unaware of any such recordings. It did not claim to have performed any due diligence on the 

subject (attC, para. 3b). 

h. In the book Hard Measures, Jose A. Rodriguez, Jr. (formerly of the CIA's 

Counterterrorism Center) said that in 2005 the CIA had destroyed tapes of the interrogations of 
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Abu Zubadayah and Abdul Rahim ai-Nashiri, two other detainees allegedly involved in al Qaeda; 

and had done so to cover up evidence of"Enhanced Interrogation Techniques•• (i.e., torture) (att. 

K). Citing this book and these concerns; the Defense asked for evidence related to any such 

destruction in this case, to include the names of the persons who ordered the destruction a.nd 

surviving paper and e-mail traffic on the subject. 

i. The Government once more refused without even pretending to perlonn due 

diligence, stating once again that .. the Prosecution is unaware" ·of any such destruction (an. C, 

para. 3q). 

j . One of the summaries (att. 

defense therefore asked 

the Government for the recording of this conversation, and all r;ecordings made of conversations 

between th.e accused. Once again, the Government refused to perform any due diligence, and 

simply declared that the Prosecution was "unaware" of any such recording (att. C, para. 3o). Since 

then, litigation in the case of United States v. Abd al-Hadi af-Iraqi has shown that surreptitious 

rewrdings of Mr. al Haw sawi do ind~ed exist and have been long concealoo by the Go•vernment.' 

C. Other Matters 

k. In addition to the recordings, the Defense requested all notes taken by 

Government agents who observed. the interrogations. The Government said that it would only 

produce those notes of agents whom it intended to call as witnesses (att. C, paras. 2e, 4) and that it 

did not intend to call any CIA agents as witnesses (id. para. 2e, 2t). 

l. The Defense also requested "all letters, emails, notes, or other correspondence, 

and all audio and video recordings providing government agents with guidance or information 

regarding the interrogation of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused." The Government promised to 

1 See AE 369, filed 24 July 2015, p. 1 & att. B; United States v. Abd al-Hadi a I-Iraqi. AE 049A, entered 23 July 2015, 
p. I. 
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provide an ''advisement checklist" without saying whether other responsive materials exist (att. C, 

para. 2g). 

m. The Defense requested any transcripts prepared oftbe various interrogations 

mentioned in its request. The Government promised to provide only those transcripts "it intends to 

use as evidence," and suggested that such transcripts would not be "relevant." (att. C, para. 3p). 

n. The Defense requested the personnel files of the translators used in the 

interrogations. The Government promised to provide anything "relevant" (in its own judgment) on 

the FBI translators to the defense (att. C, para. 2k) but outright refused to provide anything on the 

CIA translators (id. para. 2k). 

o. The Defense requested correspondence discussing the establishment, creation, 

and selection of an FBI "clean team" to interrogate the accused, as well as the materials this ''clean 

team" reviewed in preparing for these interrogations. The Government refused (att. C, para. 2h, 

2i). 

p. The defense requested the FBI's "Cross-Cultural Rapport-Based Interrogation 

Manual" as used by the FBI in January 2007. The Government refused, stating that the 

Prosecution had "determined" that this manual was never released by the author or used by the FBI 

(att. C, para. 2c). 

q. The defense requested materials related to the Combatant Status Review 

Tribunal, including communications discussing the establishment of the tribunal for Mr. al 

Hawsawi and his co-accused and communications that were shown to the CSRT members before 

the hearings. The Government refused (att. C, paras. 4e, 4f). 

r. The defense requested materials related to disciplinary reports for Mr. a! 

Hawsawi, his co-accused, and the other detainees at GTMO. The Gov~rnment said it had provided 

disciplinary reports for Mr. al Hawsawi after 2006, and would produce unspecified " information" 
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regarding his conditions of confmement before 2006. It refused to provide notes made by 

Government agents during any alleged disciplinary infractions as well as information regarding his 

co-accused or other detainees (au. C, paras. Sa, Sb, Se). 

s. The Government promised other items of discovery to the Defense once the 

Memorandum ofUnderstanding (MOU) had been signed (att. C, paras. 2b, Sc). The Defense 

recently submitted the signed MOU but the items have not yet been provided (if they are provided 

while this motion is being litigated, the Defense will gladly acknowledge this fact). 

5. Argument: 

A. The Original Notes and Recordings from Mr. al Hawsawi's Interrogations Are 

Relevant and Necessary. 

R.M.C. 70l(c)(3) specifically requires the Government to produce 

[t]he contents of all relevant statements--oral, written or recorded- made or 
adopted by the accused, that are within the possession, custody or control of tht: 
Government, the existence of which is known or by the exercise of due diligence 
may become known to trial counsel, and are material to the preparation of the 
defense or are intended for use by trial counsel as evidence in the prosecution case-in­
chief at trial. 

The rule does not let the Prosecution evade the rule by refusing to perform due diligence, then 

declaring that it (the Prosecution) does not know whether the statements exist. 

The relevance of the notes and recordings behind the CIA summaries is patent. Many of 

these statements as written are highly probative of Mr. al Hawsawi's role in the 9/11 operation. 

Thus, in a written statement provided _to his interrogators (att. D, p. 
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This is in keeping with statements. of Mr. al Hawsawi (att. F) and Mr. bin a l Shibh (att. G), though 

they were doubtless separated during their inteiTogations. This kind of information is highly 

relevant to Mr. al Hawsawi' s ca.se,4 and cannot simply be brushed aside based on whether the 

Government wants to introduce it. ~ 

Verbatim transcripts of these interrogations, translated under oath by known persons in 

accordance with the Rules of Evidence and checked by Defense linguists-may well be admissible 

as evidence, whether to rebut recent fabrication under M.R.E. 801 as adopted under M.C.R.E. 

803(a), as residual hearsay under M.R.E. 807 as adopted under M.C.RE. 803(a), or under the 

exceptionally broad latitude ofM.C.R.E. 803(b)(2). The original recordings are obviously 

indispensable for this purpose, yetthe Government has refused to perform even the slightest due 

diligence to detennine whether they still exist.6 

Furthennore, by listening to the original tapes and readimg the original notes, the Defense 

can attempt to detennine not only what the accused really said, but whether they were exhausted, in 

physical agony, or being unlawfully threatened at the time they were speaking, and thus wll.i ch 

statements. ought to be suppressed-or whether such tapes should be introduced :as mitigation. 

3 T o its credit, the Government did promise to perform due d iligence· in locating the original of this written statement 
(att. C, para. 3g). However, in the year since, the Government never followed througfl and never provided the 
statement. 
• At a bare minimum, his "degree of part icipation'' in any act is relevant as mi tigation. See Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 
137, 148 (1 986). 
s See also AE 1560 (fv1AH Sup) (Ex Par'teand Under Sea]), filed 2 March 20 15, p. 3. 
6 It is obvious that they must have ex1ste<l at one time. The summaries are too long and detai led to have been written 
from memory, especiaily if the accused were being interrogated in their native 'languages ·instead of English. At least 
one record (att . H; 1 mplying that it was written a year after parts of it were 
somehow recorded. The Government has made a habit of creating electronic records ofintel1fogations of War <On 
T~r detainees. See Center for Constitutional Rights v. CIA, No. 13-3684-CV, 2014 WL 4290452 at "'2 (Sept. 2, 
2014) (Government identified 62 "responsive records .. to FOIA request about alleged 9/11 participant Mohammed ai­
Qahtani, most ly recordings to include "debriefmgs''). Also, a ll departments of the Government 'have been on notice 
since November 200 1 that detainees connected with 9/11 would face tria l, and acc()rdingly have been obligated to 
preserve relevant evidence. See Detention, Treatment and Trial of Certain Non·Ci1izens in the War Against Terrorism, 
66 Fed. Reg. 57833,57834-85 (Nov. 13, 2001). 
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This is also why video and audio recordings of the accused while in CIA detention are so 

important.7 The Government has no good-faith basis for refusing this evidence. Its refusal to even 

attempt due diligence is outrageous. 

Likewise, any evidence that the Government destroyed such recordings, transcripts, and 

notes (including any evidence of who ordered the destruction and why) may support a Defense 

motion for appropriate relief, especially if the destroyed material is exculpatory or mitigating.8 

Unfortunately, the Government seems to have a habit of"losing" or destroying evidence related to 

its torture of War on Terror detainees.9 The Prosecution must not be allowed to refuse to look for 

such evidence, then cite its willful ignorance as an excuse for denying discovery. 

B. The Other Matters Sought by the Defense Are· Likewise Relevant and Necessary. 

1. Standards 

R.M.C. 70l(j) establishes: "Each party shall have adequate opportunity to prepare its case 

and no party may unreasonably impede the access of another party to a witness or evidence." In 

passing the Military Commissions Act (MCA) of2009, Congress mandated this process. See IO 

U.S.C. § 949j ("The opportunity to obtain witnesses and evidence shall be comparable to the 

opportunity available to a criminal defendant in a court of the United States under article III of the 

7 "The psychologist should attempt to obtain from the .referring source copies of transcripts or records of the 
interrogation, as well as the defendant's statements ... In any event, audio- or videotaped recordings of the 
interrogation, if they exist, are clearly the primary source for review, because transcripts may vary in accuracy and 
level to which they capture a suspect's emotional and cognitive state ... " Dr. I. Bruce Frumkin, Psychological 
Evaluation in Mirar~da Waiver and Confession Cases, in Clinical Neuropsychology in the Criminal Forensic Setting 
135, 141 (R. Denny & J. Sullivan, eds. 2008) (att. L). 
8 See AE 1560 (MAH Sup) (h Parte and Under Seal), fLied 2 March 2015, p. 5-6. 
9 See att. K; see also Warren Richey, The Strange Saga of Jose Padilla: Judge Adds Four Years, Christian Science 
Monitor, Sept. 9, 2014, http://www.csmonitor.com/USA!Justice/2014/0909ffhe-strange-saga-of-Jose-Padilla-Judge­
adds-four-years-video ("During his three years and eight months in military detention, Padilla was subjected to harsh 
interrogation techniques and prolonged isolation that mental health experts said may have caused permanent 
psychological injury ... Government officials made 88 recordings of Padilla's interrogations. But, according to court 
documents, the DVD recording of Padilla's final interrogation was somehow ' lost."'). In the non-referred case against 
Mohammed al-Qahtani, the Government apparently preserved some records, but succeeded in wi thholding them from 
FOIA requestors, possibly because evidence of his torture would serve as anti -American propaganda. Se·e Centerfor 
Constitutional Rights v. CIA , No. 13-3684-CV, 2014 WL4290452 at *4 (Sept. 2, 2014) (refusing FOIA disclosure 
because the tapes would serve as propaganda for "anti-American extremists" without specifically conceding that they 
showed signs of al-Qahtani ' s torture). 
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Constitution"). R.M.C. 70 l (c)( l) states that the Government shall penn it the defense counsel to 

examine any books, paper, documents, photographs, tangible objects, buildings, or places so long 

as they are: (I) under the control of the govemment, and (2) material to the preparation of the 

defense or intended for use by the trial counsel as evidence in the prosecution case-in-chief at trial. 

Demonstrating materiality .. is not a heavy burden,"10 and the standard of materiality is broadly 

construed. 11 

Furthermore, in a death penalty case, the need for reliability in fact-finding is enhanced 

under the Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Amendments to the United States Constitution. 12 Discovery is a 

major component of fact-finding, especially in a case like this where information is so tightly 

controlled by the Government and inaccessible to the Defense except through discovery. The 

Commission should be ''particularly sensitive to ensure that every safeguard is observed" before a 

death sentence can be imposed. 13 It should likewise ensure that the accused has the full benefit of 

effective counsel, implying that counsel has the needed evidence to fight the case. The 

Government's discovery obligations should be stringently enforced. 

2. Application 

The notes taken by all persons who observed the interrogations of the accused are obviously 

relevant, material, and necessary. The interrogations are, by its admissions, the Government's 

most important sources on the 9/11 operation, the very subject of this case. The 9/11 Commission 

Report acknowledges as much, when it states that its chapters 5 and 7 rely heavily on information 

10 United States v. Lloyd, 992 F.2d 348,351 (D.C. Cir. 1998). 
11 United States v. Marshall, 132 F.3d 63,67 (D.C. Cir. 1998); United States v. Libby, 429 F. Supp. 2d l , 7 (D.D.C. 
2006). 
12 See Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399,411 ( 1986) ("In capital proceedings generally, this Court has demanded that 
facttinding procedures aspire to a heightened standard of reliability"). 
13 Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 187 (1976} ("When a defendant's life is at stake, the Court bas been particularly 
sensitive to insure that every safeguard is observed"). 
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obtained from these interrogations.14 Furthermore, in the book Hard Measures, CIA 

Counterterrorism Center officer Jose Rodriguez states that 

The information [Mr. Mohammed] provided was enormously helpful in 
understanding [al Qaeda] .. .It is important to stress that we never took anything he 
said on faith but always vetted it in every way possible. Many of those listening 
were in fact among the most knowledgeable people on the planet about the 
organization and membership ofal-Qa'ida . .. 

(att. K). Information from these observers, whether in the form of notes or anything else, is as 

important for the Defense in evaluating the interrogations as it was to the CIA. It is also important 

in helping the Defense to understand the facts of the case, especially if it comes from such highly 

qualified experts. Also, these notes might further detail which "Enhanced Interrogation 

Techniques" {i.e., torture) were being employed against Mr. al Hawsawi and the other accused, and 

so help the Defense to determine whether their statements ought to be suppressed or what other 

relief might be appropriate. 15 For the same reasons, the Government's correspondence and 

guidance regarding interrogations (beyond the promised "advisement checklist") are likely to 

contain useful material for the defense. These notes and communications are vital evidence 

regardless of whether the Government intends to call the agents as witnesses, and should be 

produced. 

Given the importance of the interrogations, the Government should also have to tum over 

any transcripts it has in its possession, regardless of whether it intends to use them in evidence. 

Any such transcripts are "recorded statements" of the accused that have to be provided under the 

plain language ofR.M.C. 701. For the same reason, the Defense should be allowed to examine the 

personnel files of whichever persons translated the transcripts-to determine if they were biased or 

14 The 9111 Commission Report: Final Report of the National Commission on Terrorist Attacks Upon the United States 
146 (2004). 
l l A prior Convening Authority refused entirely to refer a case against Mohammed al-Qahtani precisely because she 
saw evidence thai he was tortured; evidence of torture is of enormous importance to 1he defense, and the Government 
may neither refuse to look for such evidence nor destroy it. See Bob Woodward, Guantanamo Detainee Was Tortured, 
Says Official Overseeing Military Trials, Wash. Post, Jan. 14, 2009, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp­
dyn/content/article/2009/0lll 3/ AR20090 l l 303372.html. 
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otherwise unfit for the job, especially if the Defense-does not have access to the recordings from 

which the transcripts were prepared. The Govenunent should be required to hand over the files. 

Likewise, in detennining whether statements obtain~ by the FBI "clean team" should be 

suppressed, it is important for the Defense to know how that team was chosen and what methods it 

used to get statements from the five accused. The correspondence describing the establishment of 

this team is important to the defense. The Government has stated, on a "trust-us" basis, that the 

FBI did not use its "Cross-Cultural Rapport-Based Interrogation ManuaL" The Defense should be 

allowed to evaluate that claim by examining the manual itself and comparing it with Mr. a! 

Hawsawi's own recollections, rather than simply trusting the Government. The weight and 

admissibility of any statement are affected by the totality of the circumstances under which it was 

obtained; the Defense needs to know as much about those circumstances as possible. The 

correspondence and the manual should be produced. 

The Government has refused to produce materials related to the establishment of the 

Combatant Status Review Tribunal, including communications discussing the establishment of the 

tribunal for Mr. at Hawsawi and his co-accused and communic;ations that were shown to the CSRT 

members before the hearings. The Government has refused on the grounds that it is not planning to 

use such evidence itself on the subject of whether Mr. al Hawsawi is an "unlawful enemy 

combatant." But the materials shown to the tribunal, whatever they may have been, are materials 

in the Government's hands to help the members understand the 9/11 operation. As such they are 

likely to help the Defense understand what the Government knows about that operation. Since 

9/ 11 is the subject of this case, and the Government's claims about Mr. al Hawsawi's role in 9/ 11 

are the case against him, the Defense should be sure to receive whatever the Government has on 

the subject~pecially if the Government saw fit to show it to the CSRT members, so as to 

persuade them to find Mr. al Hawsawi to have the status they desire. 
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Finally, the Defense may well wish to seek relief from the Commission based on any 

mistreatment of Mr. al Hawsawi. "Disciplinary Actions" are a common excuse for mistreatment of 

prisoners, and for that reason it is important for the Defense to know about the occasions when Mr. 

al Hawsawi was disciplined, and whether he (or the 9/11 detainees in general) were arbitrarily 

"disciplined" more than other detainees as a kind of pretrial punishment. The Government should 

therefore be required to provide all disciplinary reports for Mr. al Hawsawi, even those from before 

2006; the notes made by Government observers related to alleged infractions; and, for the sake of 

comparison, disciplinary reports for the other detainees being held at the same time. 

C. Conclusion. 

The Commission should order the Government to produce the disputed discovery. 

6. Request for Oral Argument: The Defense requests oral argument on this motion. 

7. Conference with Opoosing Counsel: On 18 September 2015, the Prosecution responded as 

follows: 

We are in the process of now responding to your written request, but we are having 
some difficulty determining who has signed the MOUs without modification. 
Please verify whether your team has signed without modification. If you have, we 
will have a response to your discovery request within 7 days that may obviate the 
need for you to file a motion to compel, and that, at a minimum, would likely 
narrow the number of items you seek to compel. I suspect the litigation will be 
easier for both parties if you wait for our response. 

The same day, the Defense confirmed that it had, in fact, signed and filed the MOU's without 

modification. As of 30 September 2015, no resp0nse has been forthcoming. 

8. Witnesses: None at this time. 

9. Attachments: 

A Certificate of Service; 

B. Defense Request for Discovery dated 1 August 2014; 

C. Government Discovery Response dated 29 August 2014; 
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D. Written Statement of Mr. Mohammed (as translated and provided by the 
Government); 

E. 

F. Notes from CIA interrogation of Mr. al Haws.awi; 

G. Notes from CIA interrogation of Mr. bin al Shibh; 

H. Notes from CIA interrogation of Mr. al Hawsawi (from interrogations in "late 2003" 
and "late 2004"); 

I. Notes from monitored conversation of Mr. bin al Shibh; 

J. Extract from Hard Measures by Jose A. Rodriguez. Jr.; 

K. Second Extrdct from Hard Measures by Jose A. Rodriguez, Jr.; 

L. Extract from I. Bruce Frumkin, Psychological Evaluation in Miranda Waiver and 
Co'lfession Cases. in Clinical Neuropsychology .in the Criminal Forensic Setting 
135, 141 (R. Denny & J. Sullivan, eds. 2008). 

/Is!/ 

SEAN M. GLEASON 

LtCol, USMC 
Detailed Defense Counsel for 
Mr. al Hawsa.wi 

/lsi/ 

JENNIFER N'. WILLfAMS 
LTC, JA, USAR 
Detailed Defense Counsel for 
Mr. al Hawsawi 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

1 certify that on the 1st day of October, 2015, I electronically filed AE 375(MAH) 

Defense Motion to Compel Production of Discovery Requested on 1 August 2014 

Concerning Interrogations and Other Matters with the Clerk of the Court and served the 

foregoing on all counsel of record by e-mail. 
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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF DEFENSE COUN S.EL 

OFFICE OF MILITARY COMMISSIONS 
1600 DEFENSE PENTAGON 

WASHJNGTON, DC 20301 -1600 

01 August 2014 

From: Defense Counsel for Mr. Hawsawi, United States v. Khalid Shaikh Mohammad, eJ al. 
To: Trial Counsel 

Subj: REQUEST FOR DISCOVERY ICO UNITED STATESv. MOHAMMED, et al. 

I. The Defense requests the production of un-redacted copies of the following discovery 
pertaining to the FBI "Clean Team" Interrogations: 

a. Names and contact information for all persons who conducted the interrogations of 
Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused o.r were present when they took place. 

b. All un-redacted Letterhead Memorandum statements of Mr. Hawsawi and his co­
accused. 

c. All FBI, OSI, and CITF reports generated from the interrogations of Mr. Hawsawi 
and his co-accused. 

d. An un"redacted copy of the FBI "Cross Cultural Rapport-Based 
Interrogation" manual used by the FBI in January 2007. 

e. All notes taken by every government agent who was present during, or remotely 
observed, the interrogations of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. This request 
should include, but not be limited to, any notes taken by ttbe gove!llllllent agents 
during breaks in the interrogation of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused, and any 
notes proved to the interrogators by other government agents not present in the 
interrogation room. 

f. All audio and video recordings of the interrogations or Mr. Hawsawi and his co­
accused, rega:rdless of whether these recordings were made known to the 
government agents conducting the interrogations. 

g. All letters, emails, notes, or other correspondence, and all audio and video 
recordings providing gov·ernment agents with guidance or information regarding 
the interrogation of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. Any response to this request 
should include, but not be limited to, guidance on whether and/or how to advise 
Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused of their Miranda or other U.S. Constitutional 
rights, their right to an attorney, their right to speak with consular representatives; 
any guidance regarding the use or offering of interpreter assistance during the 
interrogations; any guidance on recording the interrogations; and any other 
guidance provided to the interrogators during breaks in the interrogation. 
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h. All letters, emails, notes, audio or video recordings, or other correspondence 
discussing the establishment, creation, and selection of a "Clean Team" of 
government agents to interrogate Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. 

i . All letters, emails, notes, or other correspondence, and all audio or video 
recordings, government agents referred to as the "Clean Team" reviewed in 
preparation for their interrogation of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. This request 
should include, but not be limited to, all FBI 302s, CIA reports, interrogator 
reports, intelligence reports, and all other documents or videos that were reviewed 
by these interrogators. 

J. All Henthorn!Brady/Giglio information for each of the government agents, to 
include translators, who conducted the interrogations of Mr. Hawsawi and his co­
accused. 

k. The personnel files of the translators used during the interrogations of Mr. 
Hawsawi's co-accused, to include, but not be limited to, their language testing 
results, records of performance reviews, any derogatory information, and the 
nationality of the translator. 

2. The Defense requests un-redacted copies of the following discovery pertaining to CIA 
Interrogations: 

a. Names and contact information for all persons who conducted the 
interrogations of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused or were present when they 
took place. 

b. All audio and video recordings, photos, or medical records of Mr. Hawsawi while 
in CIA custody, regardless of whether these recordings, photographs, or medical 
records were generated in conjunction with any interrogations or whether they were 
made known to the government agents conducting the interrogations. 

c. All notes taken by every government agent who was present during, or remotely 
observed, the interrogations of Mr. Hawsawi .and his co-accused. This request 
should include, but not be limited to, any notes taken by the government agents 
during breaks in the interrogation of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused, and any 
notes proved to the interrogators by other government agents not present in the 
interrogation room. 

d. All letters, emails, notes, or other correspondence, and all audio and video 
recordings providing government agents with guidance or information regarding 
the interrogation of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. Any response to this request 
should include, but not be limited to, guidance on whether and/or how to advise 
Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused of their Miranda or other U.S. Constitutional 
rights, their right to an attorney, their right to speak with consular representatives; 
any guidance regarding the use or offering of interpreter assistance during the 
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interrogations; any guidance on recording the interrogations; and any other 
guidance provided to the interrogators during breaks in the interrogation. 

e. All Henthorn!Brady/Giglio information for each of the government agents, to 
include translators, who conducted the interrogations of Mr. Hawsawi and his co­
accused. 

£ The personnel files of the translators used during the interrogations of Mr. 
Hawsawi's co-accused, to include, but not be limited to, their language testing 
results, records of performance reviews, any derogatory information, and the 
nationality of the translator. 

g. The unedited original written statements of Mr. Mohammed, which are translated 
and (possibly) edited from MEA-STA-000045 to 000050. 

b. All the "several documents" identified at MEA-STA-000288 as ones typed by Mr. 
Mohammed. 

1. All the lerter(s) discussed at MEA-ST A-0000027 and MEA-ST A-0000328; 

J. All the 100-minute al-Qaeda video discussed at MEA-STA-0000106; 

k. The letter discussed at MEA-STA-0000302; 

l. The little blue notebook identified at MEA-ST A-0000304; 

m. The faked e-mail messages identified at MEA-STA-0000475; 

n. The instant message chat discussed at MEA-STA-0000553; 

o. The Defense requests the recording of the conversation between Mr. bin al-Shibh 
and other detainees referred to at MEA-STA-461, and all other recorded 
conversations between the detainees in this case, from 2002 to the present. 

p. If any Government agency has prepared a transcript of any recording mentioned in 
this discovery request, the Defense requests a copy of that transcript. 

q. The book Hard Measures by Jose A. Rodriguez, Jr. (p. 185-94), strongly suggests 
that the Government has already destroyed some of the evidence sought in this 
discovery request. In the event the Government has destroyed any such evidence, 
the Defense is requesting: 

Filed with T J 
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iii. All letters, memos, e-mails, and other written traffic ordering, authorizing, or 
otherwise indicating the destruction of this evidence; 

iv. All legal opinions authorizing the destruction of evidence; and 

v. All documents (including letters, memos, and e-mail traffic) indicating what was 
in the destroyed evidence. 

3. The Defense requests un-redacted copies of the following discovery pertaining to CSRT 
hearings: 

a. Names and contact information for all persons participated in the CSRT hearings of 
Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. 

b. An un-redacted copy of the unclassified and classified transcripts ofthe CSRT hearings of 
Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. 

c. All audio and video recordings of the unclassified and classified CSRT hearings of 
Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. 

d. All letters, emails, notes, or other correspondence, and all audio or video 
recordings, providing the CSRT with guidance regarding the conduct of the 
hearings involving Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. Any response to this request 
should include, but not be limited to, guidance on advising Mr. Hawsawi and his 
co-accused of Miranda or other U.S. constitutiona1 rights, their right to an attorney, 
their right to speak with consular representatives; any guidance regarding the use of 
interpreters during the CSRT hearing; any guidance on recording or transcribing 
the CSRT hearing; and any guidance provided to the CSRT members during, after, 
or before the CSRT hearing of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. 

e. All letters, emails, notes, or other correspondence, and all audio or video 
recordings, discussing the establishment of a CSRT for Mr. Hawsawi and his co­
accused. 

f. All letters, emails, notes, or other correspondence, and all audio or video 
recordings, the CSRT Panel members, Personal Representative, and Recorder 
reviewed in preparation for, and during, the CSRT hearing of Mr. Hawsawi and his 
co-accused. This request should include, but not be 1inlited to, all FBI 302s, CIA 
reports, interrogator reports, intelligence reports, and all other documents or videos 
that were reviewed. 

g. All Henthorn/Brady!Giglio information for each of the CSRT Panel Members, 
Recorders, Personal Representatives, translators, and court reporters involved with 
the CSRT hearing of Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. 
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h. 'fhe personnel files of the translators used during the CSRT hearings of Mr. 
Hawsawi and his co-accused, to include, but not be limited to, their language 
testing results, records of performance reviews, any derogatory infonnation, and 
the nationality of the translator. 

4. The Defense requests un-redacted copies of the following discovery pertaining to the 
disciplinary infractions: 

.a. All un-redacted disciplinary reports for Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused while in 
confmement. 

b. All notes taken by every government agent who was present during, or remotely 
observed, the alleged disciplinary infractions committed by Mr. Hawsawi and his 
co-accused. 

c. All audio and video recordings of the .alleged discipEinary infractions committed 
by Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. This request shall include, but not be limited 
to any video recordings ofERFs conducted in respons·e to suchr infractions. 

d. All Henthorn!Brady!Giglio information for each of the govemment agents, to 
include translators, who all.eged ·Or wrote thre disciplinary reports regarding Mr. 
Hawsawi and his co-accused. 

e. AJI disciplinary reports for all other detainees confined at Guantanamo from 
January 2002 to the pres·ent time. The information is required to put Mr. 
Hawsaw1 's alleged disciplinary infractions in context with the infractions 
committed by all other detainees held at Guantanamo. 

5. Should you require further information regar~covery request, please contact LtCol 
Sean Gleason at (703) 588-0406, or sean.gleaso~ 

Filed with T J 
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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF PROSECUTOR OF MILITARY COMMISSIONS 

1610 DEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHINGTON, DC 20301-1610 

29 August 2014 

MEMORANDUM FOR Defense Counse l for Mr. Hawsawi 

SUBJ ECT: Prosecut i on Response to 1 August 2014 Request for 
Di scover y 

1 . The Prosecution rece i ved t he Defense request f or 
d i scover y on 1 August 2014. The Prosecu tion hereby 
delivers its i nitial response to the Defense request , 
be l ow, in bold. 

2. The De f ense requests the production o f un- r edac t ed 
copies of the f ol l owing discove r y pe r ta ining to what the 
Defense te r ms t he FBI "Clean Teamn I n t errogat i o n s : 

a . Names and contact information for all pe r sons who 
conducted t he interrogat i ons o f Mr . Hawsawi and h i s co­
accused or were present when t he y took place ; 

The Prosecution will provide a point of contact through 
which the Defense can seek to speak with those who 
interviewed Mr. Hawsawi. Regarding names of those who 
interviewed Mr . Hawsawi , see the Pros ecution's response 
to letter (b) below . 

b. Al l un-redacted Letterhead Memor andum statements of Mr . 
Haws a wi and his co-accused; 

We have prov ided redacted copies of the Letterhead 
Memorandum statements (LHM} to the Defense for Mr. 
Hawsawi . Once the Memorandum of Understanding Re gardi ng 
the Receipt of Class ified Information (MOU) is signed, 
we can immediately provide unre daeted copie s, as has 
been the ease with counsel for Mr. Ali . This 
unredaeted copy will contain the names of those who 
interroqated Mr. Hawsawi . 

c. All FBI , OSI, and CITF repor ts generated from the 
interr ogations of Mr . Hawsawi and his co- accused; 

Filed with T J 
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Haws awi ' s LHM and wi ll provide the classified 
statements when the Defense siqns the Memorandum of 
Understanding Regarding Recei pt of Classified 
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the inter rogations of Mr. Hawsawi and his eo-accused . 
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d. An u n- redacted copy of t he FBI "Cr oss Cultura l Ra pport­
Based Interrogation" manual used by the FBI in J anuary 
2007 ; 

The Prosecutio n has confirmed that the requested 
document was not t he policy of the Federal Bureau o f 
Investiqation and was, in fact , never released by the 
author. 

As s uch, the Prosecuti on respectfully declines to 
produce the reques ted materials . 

e. All notes t a ken by every government agent who was 
present du r i ng, or remotely observed, the i n t errogations o f 
Mr . Hawsawi and his co-accused . Thi s r eques t shoul d 
i nc l ude, b u t not be l imited to , any notes taken by the 
governme nt agents during breaks i n the interr oga t ion of Mr . 
Hawsawi and hi s co-accused , and any notes p r oved to the 
in t e rrogators by oth er governmen t agen t s not p r esent i n t he 
in t e rrogation room; 

Notes wil l be provided in accordance with a .M.C . 701 
and a.M. C 914 for those aqents who testify aqainst Mr . 
Hawsawi. 

f . All audio a nd video recordings of t he inte rrogations of 
Mr . Ha wsawi and h is co- accused , regardless o f whether t hese 
recordings were made known to the government agents 
conducti ng the interrogations ; 

The Prosecution is aware of no such recordings. 

g . All l e tters , emai l s , no tes , o r o t her corresponde nce, and 
al l a udio and v i deo recordings p r oviding government agent s 
with gui dance or information regarding the inter r ogati o n o f 
Mr . Haws a wi and h i s co- accused. Any r esponse to t h i s 
req ues t shoul d incl ude , but no t be l i mited to , guidance on 
whether a nd/or how to a dvise Mr . Hawsaw i and h i s co-accused 
o f t heir Miranda o r othe r U. S . Constitutiona l rights, t heir 
right to an attorney, their righ t t o spea k wi t h consu l ar 
representatives ; a ny guidance regarding the use or o ffe ring 
of inte r pre t e r assistance d u r i ng the interrogati o n s; any 
guidance on recor ding the inte rrogat i ons; a nd a n y other 
guidance p rovided to t he int e rroga t o rs d u r i ng b r eaks in the 
i n t errogat i on ; 
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h . Al l l etters, emai l s, no t es, a udio or video recordings, 
or o t her correspondence d i scussing the es t ablishment , 
creation, and select ion of a "Cl ean Teamn o f government 
agents t o i n t er r ogate Mr. Hawsawi and h is co- accused; 

The Defense does not cite to any specific theory of 
relevance that would reasonably warrant production of 
the requested information , nor does the Defense request 
appear to be material to the preparation of the 
defense , pursuant to R .M.C. 701. 

As such, the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
produce the requested material. 

i. Al l l e tters, emai l s, notes, or other correspondence, and 
a l l a udio or video recor d i ngs, government age n t s refe rred 
to as t he "Clean Teamn reviewed i n prepara t ion for t heir 
in t er r oga t i o n of Mr . Hawsawi and h is co- accused. Thi s 
request s hould incl ude, but not be limited to, a ll FBI 
302s , CIA r e ports, i nter roga t or reports , i nte ll i ge nce 
reports, and all other document s or videos t hat were 
reviewed by t hese i nte r r ogators; 

The Defense does · not cite to any specific theory of 
relevance that would reasonably warrant production of 
the requested information, nor does the Defense request 
appear to be material to the preparation of the 
defense, pursuant to R.M.C . 701. 

As such, the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
produce the requested material . 

j . All He nthorn/Brady/Gigl i o information for each of the 
government age n t s , to include t ransl a t ors, who conducted 
t he interrogat ions of Mr. Hawsawi and his co- accused; 

This information will be provided in accordance with 
R.M.C . 701 and R.M.C. 914 following the identification 
of witnesses per future order of the Military Judge. 

k . The personne l fil e s of t he t rans l a t ors use d d u ring t he 
interrogat i ons of Mr. Hawsawi 's co-accused, to i nc l ude, but 
not be l i mi t ed t o , t he i r l a nguage t est ing resul ts , r e cords 
of per f ormance revi e ws , any de r ogator y i nforma t ion, a nd the 
nat ional ity of the t ransla t or . 

Filed wilh T J 
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3 . The Defense r equests un-reda cted copi es of t he following 
discove ry pe rta ining to CIA Inter rogations: 

a . Na mes and con tac t inf ormation fo r a l l persons who 
conducted the inte r r ogat ions of Mr . Hawsawi and his co­
accused or were p r esen t when they took place ; 

This issue is curre~t1y being 1itigated in AE 308. 

b. Al l audio and video recor d i ngs , photos, or medi cal 
r ecor ds of Mr. Hawsaw i whi l e i n CI A custody, regardl ess of 
whether these r ecordings , photographs , or medi cal records 
were gene rated in con junct i on with any int e rroga t i o ns or 
whether they were made known to the government agent s 
conducting the interrogati on s; 

Upon s i gning the Memorandum of Understanding Regardinq 
Receipt of C1assified Information the Prosecution wi11 
provi de medi cal records and photos of M%. Hawsawi whi1e 
he was in the custody of the Central Inte11iqence 
Aqency (CIA) . The Prosecution is not aware of any 
audio or video recordinqs of M%. Hawsawi whi1e he was 
in the custody of the CIA. 

c . Al l notes taken by every government agent who was 
present dur i ng , o r r emotely observed, the interrogations of 
Mr . Hawsawi and his co- accused . Thi s r equest shou l d 
include , but not be limited to , any notes taken by the 
government agents during breaks in the interrogati on of Mr . 
Hawsawi and his co-accused, and a n y notes proved to t he 
int~rrogators by other government agents no t presen t in the 
inter rogation room; 

Filed with T J 

Notes wi 11 be provided in accordance with R.M.C. 
914(a) (1) for those aqents that testify against M% . 
Hawsawi reqardinq sta tements he has q'i.ven. 

The Defense does not cite to any specific theory ?f 
re1evance that would reasonab1y warrant production of 
notes taken (if , in fact, any were taken) of interviews 
with Mr . Hawsawi when those statements will not be 
e ntered into evidence by the Prosecution. Nor does the 
Defense request appear to be materi al to the 
preparation of the defense, pursuant to R.M.C. 701. 

As such, the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
produce the additional requested materia1 . 
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d. All letters, emails, notes, or other correspondence , a nd 
all audio and video recordings providing government agents 
with guidance or informat ion regarding t he interrogation of 
Mr . Hawsawi and h i s co-accused. Any response t o t his 
request should include , but not be limited to , guidance on 
whet her and/or how to advise Mr . Hawsawi and his co-accused 
of t heir Miranda or other U.S. Cons t i t ut i onal rights , their 
right to an attorney, their r igh t to speak wi t h consul ar 
representat i ves ; a n y guidance regarding t he use or offeri ng 
of interpret e r assistance during t he interroga t ions; a ny 
guidance on recording t he interrogations ; and any o t her 
guidance p r ovided to the interrogators dur ing breaks i n t he 
i nter rogat ion; 

This issue is currently being litigated .in AE 308 . 

As such, the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
produce the requested material. 

e. All Henthorn/Brady/Gi glio i~format ion for each of the 
gove r nment agen t s, to include t ransla t ors , who conducted 
the i n t errogations of Mr. Hawsawi and his co- accused; 

The Prosecution does not intend to c .all any CIA 
interrogators as witnesses . As such, the Prosecution 
respectfully declines to produce the information . 

f . The personnel f iles of t he translators used during the 
interrogations of Mr. Hawsawi ' s co- accused , to i nclude, bu t 
not be limit ed to , t heir l anguage tes t ing r esul t s , records 
of pe r f ormance reviews, any derogatory informat ion , and the 
nationa l i ty of the t r ans l ator; 

The Prosecution does not intend to call any CIA 
interrogators as witnesses. As such, the Prosecution 
respectfully declines to produce the information 
regarding the translators. 

g . The unedited or i g i nal wri tten stateme nts of Mr . 
Mohammed , wh ich are t rans l a t ed and (possibly ) edi t ed f rom 
MEA- STA- 0 0 0 045 t o 000050 ; 

The Prosecution is currently conducting its due 
diligence and will respond accordingly upon completion 
of its due diligence. 

h . All the "several documents" identified at MEA-STA-00 0 288 
as ones typed by Mr . Mohammed; 
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Regarding Receipt of Clas sified Informati on, the 
Defense will receive a digital copy of the computer 
hard drive seized during the capture of your clien t. 

i . All the l e tter(s) discussed at MEA-STA- 0000027 and MEA­
STA- 0000328; 

To the extent you refer to a hard copy, you will be 
given an opportunity to i nspect a ll of the material 
from the raids for which you ha ve a courtesy copy 
photo . Please contact the Prosecution to arrange a 
date to v i ew these items . Upon signing the Memorandum 
of Understanding Regarding Receipt of Classified 
Informati on, you will receive a digita l copy of the 
computer hard drive seized during the capture of your 
client . 

j . All the 100-minute al-Qaeda video d i scussed at MEA-STA-
0000106 ; 

The Prosecution is currently conducting its due 
diligence and will respond accordingly upon completion 
of i ts due dili gence. 

k. The le t ter discussed at MEA-STA- 0000302; 
To the extent you refer to a hard copy, you will be 
given an opportuni ty to i nspect a ll of the mater ial 
from the raids for which you have a courtesy copy 
photo. Please contact the Prosecution to arrange a date 
to view these items. Upon signing the Memorandum of 
Understanding Regarding Receipt of Classified 
Information , you will receive a digital copy of the 
computer hard drive seized during the capture of your 
client. 

l. The l i ttl e blue notebook ident i fied at MEA- STA- 0000304; 
The Prosecution provided this to the Defense in 
d i scovery on 27 Nov 2013. Bates numbers MEA-RAW-
000000708-000000769 

m. The faked e - mail messages i dentified at MEA- STA- 0000475; 
The Prosecution i s currently conducting its due 
diligence and will respond accordingly upon completion 
of its due diligence. 

n. The ins t ant message cha t discu ssed at MEA-STA- 0000553 ; 
The Prosecution is currently conducting its due 
diligence and will respond accordingly upon completion 
of its due diligence . 
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o. The Defense requests t he recording of t he conversation 
between Mr. bin al -Sh ibh and other de t ainees referred to at 
MEA-STA-00000461 , and all oth e r r ecorded conversations 
between the detainees in t his case , f rom 2 0 02 t o the 
present ; 

There is no indication that the conversation referred 
to i n MEA-STA-00000461 was recorded, but rather 
overheard during the transport . The Prosecution is not 
aware of any recordings made during the transport. 

p. If any Government agency has prepared a transcr i pt of 
any recording mentioned in t his discovery request , t he 
Defense requ ests a copy o f t hat transcript ; 

The Prosecution will provide transcripts it intends to 
use as evidence, if any. 

To the extent this request seeks transcripts other than 
those the Prosecution intends to use , the Defense does 
not cite to any specific theory of relevance that would 
reasonably warrant production of the requested 
information , nor does the Defense request appear to be 
material to the preparation of the defense , pursuant to 
R .M . C. 701. 

As such , the Prosecution respec tfully declines to 
produce the requested material. 

q. The book Hard Measures by Jose A. Rodriguez , Jr . (p . 
185-94) , strongly suggests that the Government has already 
des t royed some of the evidence sought in this discovery 
reques t . In t he event the Governme n t has destroyed any such 
evidence , the Def ense is requesting : 

i. 

ii . 

iii. 
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The names , and contact information fo r, al l 
persons i nvolved i n the des t ruction of t his 
evidence ; 

The names , and contac t information f or , a ll 
persons who saw the conten t s of the evidence 
before it was destroyed; 

All letters, memos, e-mai l s, and other written 
t raffic ordering, autho r izing , or otherwise 
i ndicating the des t r uction of th i s evidence ; 
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iv. All legal opinions authorizi ng the destruction of 
evidence; and 

v . Al l documents ( i ncluding letters , memos , and e­
mail traf f ic) i ndicating what was in the 
destroyed ev i dence . 

The book Hard Measures , in pages 195- 94, as referred to 
by the Defense, references documentation of the 
destruction of the taped interrogations of individuals 
who are not the Accused in this case . As such, the 
Prosecution respectfully declines to produce the 
requested material. 

The Prosecution is unaware of the destruction of any 
evidence relating to the five Accused in this case at 
this time . 

4. The Defense r equests un-redacted copies of the 
following discovery pertaining to CSRT hearings : 
As an initial matter regarding the CSRT hearings , it is 
important to note that the Prosecution will be relying 
only on the statements given to the CSRT by the Accused 
and not the CSRT ' s determination of t he Accused's status 
as an unlawful enemy combatant . As such , on~y materia~ 
related to these statements , and to witnesses the 
Prosecution calls regarding the statements , will be 
material to the preparation of the Defense. 

a . Names and contact informat i on fo r all persons 
pa rticipated in the CSRT hearings of Mr. Ha wsawi and his 
co-accused . 

The Prosecution is seeking to identify a point of 
contact for defense counsel so the Defense can seek to 
speak with these individuals. 

b. An un-redacted copy o f the unclassi f ied and c lassified 
transcripts o f the CSRT hearings of Mr . Hawsawi and his co­
accused; 

The Prosecution will provide the transcript to the 
Defense . 

c . All audio and video recordings of the unclassified and 
classified CSRT heari ngs of Mr . Hawsawi and his co-accused ; 

The Prosecution will provide this to the Defense . 

d . All letters , emails , notes, or other correspondence, and 
al l audio or video r ecordings , p roviding the CSRT wi th 

Filed wHh TJ 
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guidance regarding the conduct of the hearings i nvolving 
Mr. Hawsawi and his co-accused. Any response to this 
request should i ncl ude , buL not be l i mi ted to , guidance on 
advising Mr . Hawsawi and his co-accused of Miranda or other 
U. S . constitutional r ights, thei r right to an attorney , 
t heir right to speak with consular representatives ; any 
guidance regarding the use of i nterpr eters during the CSRT 
hearing ; any guidance on recording or tran scribing t he CSRT 
hearing ; and any guidance provided to the CSRT members 
dur i ng , after , or before t he CSRT hearing of Mr . Hawsawi 
and h is co- accused ; 

The Combatant Status Review Tribunal directives are 
available via open source documentation . 

e . All letters , emails , notes, or other correspondence , and 
all audio or video recordings, d iscuss i ng the establishment 
of a CSRT for Mr . Hawsawi and his co-accused ; 

The Defense does not cite to any specific theory of 
relevance that would reasonably warrant production of 
the requested infor:mation , nor does the Defense request 
appear to be material to the preparation of the 
de fens e , p ursuant to R .M. C. 701 . 

As such, the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
produce the requested material . 

f . All letters , emails , notes, or other correspondence, and 
all audio or video recordi ngs , the CSRT Panel members , 
Personal Represen t ative, and Recorder revi ewed in 
preparation for , and during , the CSRT hearing of Mr. 
Ha wsawi and his co-accused . This r equest should include , 
but not be l i mi ted t o , all FBI 302s , CIA reports , 
i nterrogator reports , intelligence reports , and al l other 
documents or v i deos t hat were reviewed; 

As previously stated , the Prosecution only intends to 
rely on admissions made by the several of the Accused at 
the CSRT, and as such, the information sought i s not 
relevant or material to the preparation of the Defense. 
As such , the Prosecution res pectfully decli nes to 
produce the information . 

g. All Henthorn /Brady /Giglio informat i on f or each of the 
CSRT Panel Members , Recorders, Personal Representatives , 
translators , and court repor t ers i nvolved with the CSRT 
heari ng of Mr . Haws awi and his co-accused; 

Filed wilh T J 
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dete~nation of the Accused' s status as an unlawful 
enemy combatant. As such , only mate~ial ~elated to 
these statements, and to witness(s ) the P~osecution 
calls reqardinq the statements, are material to the 
preparation of the Defense. 

As such, only the information in accordance with R.M.C. 
701 and R.M.C. 914 followinq the identification of 
witnesses per future order of the Military Judqe, will 
be provided. 

h . The personnel f i les of the translators used during t he 
CSRT hear i ngs o f Mr . Hawsawi and his co- accused, to 
include , but not be limited to, their language testing 
results, records o f performance reviews, any derogatory 
information , and the nationality of the translatori 

The Prosecution will ~eview these for any witnesses it 
intends to call , and provide anythinq that is relevant 
to the preparation of the defense . 

5 . The Defense requests un- redacted copies of the following 
discovery pertaining to the disciplinary infractions: 

a. All un-redacted disc i plinary reports for Mr . Hawsawi a nd 
h i s co-accused while in confinement; 

The Prosecution has provided disciplinary reports for 
M%. Hawsawi from 2006 forward and will produce 
information reqardinq his conditions of confinement 
p~ior to 2006. 

Reqardinq disciplinary reports of his co- accused the 
Defense does not cite to any specific theory of 
relevance that would reasonably warrant p~oduction of 
the requested information, nor does the Defense request 
appear to be material to the preparation of the 
defense , pursuant to R . M.C . 701 . 

As such , the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
p~oduce the ~&quested material . 

b . Al l notes taken by every government agent who was 
present during, or remotely observed, the alleged 
disciplinary infractions committed by Mr. Hawsawi and his 
co-accused ; 

Filed with T J 
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the requested information , nor does the Defense request 
appear to he material to the preparation of the 
defense , pursuant to R.M.C . 701 . 

As such , the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
produce the requested material . 

c . Al l audio and vid eo r ecordings of t he alleged 
disciplinary infractions committed by Mr . Hawsa wi and his 
co-accused . Th i s reques t s ha l l i nc l ud e , bu t not be limited 
to a n y video r ecording s o f ERFs conducted in response to 
such i nf ract ions; 

The Prosecution will make available video recordings of 
the forced cell extractions once the Defense has signed 
the MOU . 

d . All Henthor n/Brady/Giglio information for each o f the 
government agents , to include transl a tors , who alleged or 
wrote the discipl i nary reports r egarding Mr . Hawsawi and 
his co-accused; 

This information will he provided in accordance with 
R .M. C . 701 and R .M. C. 914 following the identification 
of witnesses per future order of the Military Judge. 

The Prosecution notes it required only to provide this 
in.formation for government witnesses and to the extent 
this request is for persons other than government 
witnesses, the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
produce the information . 

e . All disciplinary reports for a ll other d etainees 
conf i ne d at Guantanamo from January 2002 to t he presen t 
time . The i nformation i s requi r e d to put Mr . Hawsawi' s 
alleged disciplinary i nfractions in context with t he 
i n fractions committed by a ll other detainees held at 
Guantanamo . 

Filed with T J 

The Defense does not cite to any specific theory of 
relevance that would reasonably warrant production of 
the requested information, nor does the Defense request 
appear to be material to the preparation of the 
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As such , the Prosecution respectfully declines to 
produce the requested material . 
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Pref, ce 

WHO I AM 

·],am Jose A. Rodriguez, Jr., me l'uerto Rican-born s<m of two 
teachers. I grew up largely in South America and in the Ca­
ribbean, comlng to rhe continencal United States for the first 
time for any length of time when I attended the University of 
Florida, where I received my BA and law degree. For rhe next 
thirty-one years I served my cou·•try, uodercover, as an officer 
of the Central Intelligence Af,ency . 

After September 11, 2001, [ w.as assigned to the CIA's 
Counterterrorist Center. There, ( was responsible fm helping 
develop and impJemen.t the Ageucy1s techn iques for capturing 
the world's most dangerous terrorists and collecting imelligcnce 

from them, including the use of highly coouoversjaJ "enhanced 
imerrogarion techniques." 

lam certain, beyond any doubt, that these techniques, ap­
proved by the highest levels of tht U.S. government, cenified as 
legal by the Department of Justice. and briefed co and supported 
by bipartisan leadership of oongt•!:Ssional intelligence oversi.ghtt 
committees, shielded the people of the United Sta tes from harm 
and led to the capture and killing of Usama bin Lad in. 

What follows is t:he story of h•)W my coUeagues and I came 
to take those hard measures and ~hy we are certain that our ac­
tions saved Amerkan lives, 
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·e KSM was staying, our officer 
1 about h is involvement in the 
:d his finger at the American, 

id: "Not now." 

able to spirit KSM out of Paki~ 

te. There the pwcess began with 
recent senior detainees, to try to 

1e information we knew he had. 

cation of h is capture we had in­

mt contact with bin Ladin and 
es we knew that he was instru­

plans that led ro 9/11. And from 
what aJ-Qa'ida planned next we 
n you will !mow." With all that. 
.t for a chance to bon d with our 

!rror of his ways and open up to 

•pcrace. the ElTs were methodi-

in an effort to stave off another 

tates or one of om allies. 

cooperate after little more than 
>it more convincing but would 
lt ively small dose of EITs. And 

officers in charge of his deten~ 
1il." He was very sttong~minded 

1ad C?nsiderable training in how 
rhe most severe technique, wa­

•yed on him and only two other 
nmediate results. KSM seemed 
1cren't going to push things too 

1 gurney and as water was being 
rick off th e seconds. What even ­

;omplianlt stage was more sleep 
·eJ.ched his limit, he decided that 

UNCLASSIFI ED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE 

i.· 

HARD ME1\SURI;S 

continu ed resistance was unwise: and he began to cooperate. 

1hat doesn't mean that he told us everything he knew. And it 

d oesn't mean that he told us what we wanted most. But he did 

begin to open up and fill in mar.y, many blanks in our knowl­
edge of al-Qa'ida. 

As with the others, once KSM readied the compliant stage, 
the EfTs stopped. We moved from the "interrogation" phase 

to the "debriefing" m<><le. Agen ... y officers on scene had long 
before figured out that KSM had an enormous ego, and they 
played on it to our advantage. He enjoyed thinking of himself 

as a professor. H e leaped at the chance to show off his knowl­
edge. 

The infoJmation he provided was enormously helpful in 
understanding our foe and finding ways to thwarc their plans. 

It is important to stress that we .never took anything he said on 

faith but always vetted it in every way possible. Many of those 

listening were in fact among the rnost knowledgeable people on 
the planet abour the organization and membership of aJ-Qaida 
and could spot it when KSM might be trying to lead them 
astray or ~hade the truth. 

The: information that came frl)m KSM, like lhar from Abu 
Z ubaydah before him. was a treasure trove. A study by NIBC 
News in 2008 showed that 441. of the 1,700 footnot,es 1n the 
911 1 Commission's finaJ report ctme from senior a1-Qa!ida de~ 
tainee interrogation. The percentlgf ofinformation chat came 

from them in Chapter~ 5, 6, and 7 of the report, the portions 

dealing directly wich the 9/1 J pi•Jt, were well over 50 percent 
from the Lnterr<>gations. 

The windfall repcorted in the intelligence reports coming 
out of KSM's interrogation was :;o dramatic that FBI officials 

petitioned the CIA to get back inco the interro!?tion program, 
which they had abandoned duri:t.g the early days at the first 
black site. At the time they said they didn't want to be party 
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gust 4, 2002, AZ was recng~ed and 
~ significam Eifs, as- desCrlb~d in an 

~ period, Zi.il:)ay~ah .'-":~£~~ .~n, 
rerrogadon. 

: t:aping was of limited value as far as 

m from h is demeanor. We had enough 

vith him as be wa;s interrogated and 

dosed--circuit lV, that our officers had 
1p the significance of whatever he said 
ut that Agency personnel at the black 
videotape as they were preparing their 
1d .back to Washington. Their contem­
ervations were derailed and accurate. 

videotaping to demonstrate that "if he 

liso melted away as AZ's medical con­
~ew stronger. 
ard the end of the application of EfTs 
officers at the black site asked them­

raping?" They weren't getting anything 
:e Agency officers could clearly be seen 

tg AZ, it was clear that if the videos 

:ed they could pose serious safety con· 

cted on the tapes and their families. 
Abu Zubaydah were in their final 

che black site sent word back to CIA 

·iewed the continued .retention of the 

:rious counrerintelligence and .securiry 
~hat they be: authorized to stop taping 

-eady on hand. There was no mention 
!re embarrassed by their own actions 
they recognized that there was little to 
making the capes md it was clear that 
ency officers at risk. So, as I recall, on 

'· 
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Augu~r 20, 2002, our peopk at the black te a.de a seemingly 
simple request that the tap•!S and taping · one away with. 

What followed was more than three y r hand-wringing 
and bureaucratic backpedaling until I made what turned out to 
be a f.ueful decisjon. 

The request from the field to destroy the tapes went to our 

lawyers for consideration. The public, 1 suspect, would be 

very surprised to find out how ubiqilltous la-wyers are at the 
Agency. We h.ad a ton of them. Don't get me wrong, I valued 

their counsel and support ·,ery much. We had a number of 
excellem lawyers assigned tlireccly to CTC and many more 

. throughout the Agency and on the staff of the general counsel. 

1 am not sure exactly how many lawyers there were at the CIA 

but lx:fore 9/11, I believe they would have outnumbered the 
pa.ramilitary officers we had. in our Special Activities Division. 

General Mike Hayden, who was CIA director from May 2006 
to February 2009, used to S•lY that he had more lawyers on his 
staff than some of his foreign counterparts had officers. 

The lawyers rook the request to destroy the tapes under ad­
visement. Meanwhile, the EJT program was just getting off the 

ground. When Congress ca:ne back from its annual summer 

recess in early September, I led a team from CTC to Capitol 
HUl ro inform the senior leadership of our two oversight com­

mittees about che existence uf the EIT program. Those cLscus­
sions deserve special focus of their own, and l will get back to 

that-but for the tape story, suffi.ce it to say mat the congres­
sional leadershjp was aware that the early interrogations had 
been videotaped but that we intended to stop that practice and 
descroy the existing tapes. 

A litde more than two months after the initial requ~t 
from the field came in, the A.gency's Office of General Coun­
sel pronounced a decision on future taping. On Occober 25, 
headquarters told the fidd that in the furure they should record 
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one day's ime sessions on a videotape and then record 

the next day's n same tape; recording over the previous 
material. That , rev ted the stockpile of videotapes from over­
whelming the bla. siite but d.id noJthing to alleviate the con­
cerns about all e' tapes already made (by that time numbering 
more than ninety). By th.is time, a second high-value al-Qa'ida 

detainee, al-Nashiri, had joined AZ at the black site, and his 
interroganon was also videotaped. -
- --A month Jater, in November ZOOZ, headquarters advised 

the field that soine news organizations were working hard to 
identify the location of the black site and that there might be 
press accounts soon speculating about where this seaet site 

might be. That raised new security concerns, and the officers 

on scene sent in a renewed, expedited request for permission 

to dcsuoy rhe existing stockpile of tapes. The lawyers said "'no," 
or, more precisely, "not yet." Thef wouldn't sign off on the 
destruction of the rapes until they assured themselves thar the 
written record of what happened in the interrogation sessions 

was accurate and complete. So the_1 launched one of the assis­

tant general oounsels, a very senio · Agency officer, out to the 

field, where he spent ten days viewi ng and cataloguing what he 
found to be ninety·l(WO videotapes. On twelve of the tapes were 

s~enes of Elhleing_!Ppiled-.' Many ~f the o-thers werestmply 
stu~~i.lkn~e of ;:;high-profile guests in cheir cells. The AGC 
diligently worked his way duougl the stack of tapes and re­
ported that what he saw was in compliance with what the De­

partment of Justice had author i1.ed in August and wa:s entirely 

consistent with what our offic:ers in the field had reported back 
to headquarters .in their written reports. Still, no decision was 
made to authorize rhe destruction of me tapes. 

In December 2002, John Helgerson, the CIA inspector gen­
eral (no fan of the EIT program), b~came aware of the existence 

r 86 
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of the tapes. The day after Christmas 2002, ·the Agency's general 
~u:nsel informed the director of Central Intelligence that he 
had no objection "in principle" w eTC's continuing requests to 

destroy the tapes but recommended that we· hold off until Janu­
ary, when a new Congress would be sworn in and fresh lead­
ership would arrive at our oversight committees. The general 
counsd recommended that the ClA "inform" the committees 
of our intent, but also noted that if they objected and told us 
to retain the tapes or demanded ro review them themselves, we 

would be in a strong position to deny che requests on security 

and operational grow1ds. 
In meetings and conversation.> rluou.ghout me fall of 2001, 

I keep pushing for a decision that would allow us to do the 
right thing regarding the tapes. ·llie delay was frustrating, bm 
I had so many other things o.n my plate that 1 could nor afford 
to obsess about the tapes. Afrer all, we'd been waiting only four 
months. right? 

In February 2003 the new leadership of the House and Sen­

ate intelligence committees was briefed on the existence of the 
rapes and the Agency's intent to destroy them. On February 4, 
Senator Pat Roberts (R-KS) quidly gave his assent. His Demo­

crarjc counterpan, Senator Jay Rockefeller of West Virginia, 
was not present, but his scalf director and. another senior staffer 

were there and were expected to brief Rockefeller. The next 
day the chairman of the House :ommittee, Porter Goss, and 

his Ianking member, Congresswoman Jane Harman, were also 
briefed. Goss was supportive of our plan but Harman brer sent 
a classified lener ttO the CIA urging us to "reconsider because 
even if the videotapes do not cor,scirure an official record that 
must be preserved under the law, they could. be the best proof 
rhat the written record is accurate." 

Despite firm legal opinions from within the Agency that we 
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had the right to destroy the tapes and l!ither support or luke­
warm opposition from the Hal, the Agency's top leaders scill 
wouldn't pull the t rigger on destroying the tapes. 

'Then the IG did what the IG alwa)~S does and decided to 
investigate. I had no problem with char. There had been some 
problems with the interrogation program-as with every 
program. Those issues were self-reponed by our own people. 
More so than other organizations, the CIA regularly conduces 
due diligence on icsel£ This was to be an .investigation of the 
entire interrogation program. That puc a hold on any possible 
decision to take ac6on about the tapes. Ev-entually, the IG 
staff concludedl that destroying the taf>~!S would he within our 
rights. Two inv·estigalors reviewed the Upes, logs, and cable; at 
the foreign site and concluded rhar it was up to Agency man­
agement to decide whar ro do with t:he tapes. 1 thought thl$ 
was significant, since the IG shop had alwa)'5 been hostile to 
the EIT effort. Inspector General Helgerson once described it 
to a group of senior Agency officers as ';that hideous program." 

If he couldn't find a reason to object to destroying the tapes, it 
had to be okay. But still, we waited. 

In September another senior Agency attorney, a differem· 
assistant general counsel, took a crad. at the legalities. After 

examining the issue, she reported in writing that the record 
showed that fo.r "grave national security reasons," retention of 
the tapes presented ..,grave risk" to tht: personal safety of our 

officers and required the dest.rucdon of the tapes:. And! still, we 
waired .. 

In January 2004 the same attorney reiterated her written 
opinion but added that we should consult the inspector general! 
(who had aiieady weighed in on rh.e matter) before taking ac­
tion. And still, we waited. 

Yet another assistant general counsel provided a written 

188 
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opinion in early April :saying that there were no le 
ments for the Agency to retain the tapes. 

e~ 

In late April2004, there was an explosive event t a ed 
to our conviction that getting r id of the tapes was v 'all Im­

portant. That month, truly av.ful photographs appeared in 

dle medi;~ $howing U.S. Army trQops brutally abusing Iraqis 
held at the Abu Ghraib priso11. The disgraceful and disgust~ 
ing treatm.em of these prisoners had absolutely nothing to do 
with the jnrerrogation program 1 un by the CIA. Our program, 

blessed by the highest ~egal authorities in the land, conducted 

by uained professionals, and applied to only a handful of the 
most important terrorists on the planet, bore no relation to the 

unauthorized actions of a handful of ~ow-level army troops. 
lhe justifiable outcry about the abusive treaunent shown in the 

Abu Ghraib photos, first on 60 Minutts II and later in maga­
zines and newspapers around tht! globe, did huge harm to the 

image of the United States. President Bush apologized for the 

actions of these sick soldiers and Secretary of Defense Rums­
feld offered his resignation to atone for their mindless actions. 

We knew that if the photos of CIA officers conducting au­
t:horized EITs ~ergot out, the difference between a legal , au­

tho·rized, necessary, and safe pro~;ram and me mindless actions 

of some MPs would be buried JY the impact of the images. 

The propaganda damage to the im~~2.f -~~rica would be 
in1men5e.B:ut my main concern then, and always, ~as for the 
saferyof my officers. 

The image of Privale Lynndit: England holding a leash at~ 
tached to a naked, anonymous Iraqi was devastating. The reac­
tion from around the world was one of disgust . She was later 
(qujte appropriatd y) sentenced t<· three years in prison and dis~ 
honorably d.ischarged. But what jf a photo of a senior al-Qa'ida 
leader being waterboard ed by CL\. officers were lO get out? 1he 
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'ght be discurbing, but more troubling to me would 
e ssibiHty that al-Qa'ida and its supporters would use 
oro ro track down Agency officers and exact revenge on 

rhem or their families. To me rhe Abu Ghraib debacle provided 

more evidence that it was urgent to take action about the CIA 

videotapes. To others it was yet another reason to do nothing. 
By this time, the bureaucratic 'mother-may-1?" instincts 

of the CIA had ki~;ked into high gear. The Agenocy's general 

counsel, Sam Muller, decided to check with senior lawyers ac 
the Department of Justice and the Office of the Vice President 
for their views. Not unexpecced.ly, the answer he got was that 
it probably wasn't a good idea to descroy the tapes "right now.» 

And so, we waited. 

The CIA IG completed the length.y (and in my view highly 

flawed) report on the Agency's ove:·aJl interrogation program 

in May. That repon was forwarded to the leadership of the 
House and Senate intelUgcnce coo:uruttees in June. The report 

contained three substantive paragraphs about the videotaping 
of interrogations. 

We know som~ people on the HiiJ read che report. Senator 

Rockefeller, who would later claim i:hac he and the committee 
were kept largely in the dark :tbout the issue, requested several 
documents mentioned in the JG n:port, including the docu­
ment created by the asstistant general counsel who had reviewed 

and inventoried the tapes for che express purpose of determin­
ing whether it was okay for us co de.moy them. 

Frequently during the several-year period after our officers 

in the field first requested permiss1on to destroy the tapes, l 
would bring up to the general coumel and other senior Agency 
officials my concerns about the lack of a decision and the 
foo[-d.ragging that we were experiencing. To bureaucrats in 
Washington, discussions over the ~re of the videos were an 

interesting Legalistk debate. To the men and women depicted. 

UNCLASSIFIED//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE 



UEZ, JR. 

1<;>re troubUn,g to me would 

nd its supporters would. use 

>fficers and exact revenge on 
lbu Ghraib debacle provided 
o take action about the CIA 
other reason to d o nothing. 
c "mother-may-1?"' instincts 
t gear. The Agency's genera) 

check with senior lawyers at 

: Office of the Vice Presidem 

. rhe answer he got was that 
!estray the ca~s "right now." 

·gthy (and in my view highly 
veraU interrogation program 

led to the leadership of the 
nminees in June. The report 
;raphs about the vid(otaping 

Hill read the report. Senator 
n that he and the committee 

H me issue, requested several 

report, including the docu­

ral counsd who had revjewed 

express purpose of derermin­
:festroy them. 
·year period after our officers 
1ssion to destroy the tapes, I 
msel and other senior Agency 

lack of a docision and the 

~riencing. To bureaucrats in 

e fate of the videos were an 

'\e men and women depicted 

UNCLASSJFIEO//FOR PUBLIC RELEASE 

"4 
' 

HARD MEASURES 

on the tapes, the lack o f wiiJ co remove chis potencial threat to 
their personal safety was more than a little troubling. By this 

time I had moved up to become die deputy director of Op­

erations. I was now one of "'them,'' one· of the «seventh-floor" 

people who were supposed co make all the big decisions. I re­
mained something of a pest to the Office of the General Coun­
sel, trying to get a decision, and tht right one, made. 

I later learned that in March of 2005 the acting general 

counsel, John Rizzo, a highly exp€'rienced and capable career 

Agency lawyer (known for his seemingly never-ending supply 
of tailored suits with matching suspenders, socks, and pocket 

squares), had mer with CIA director Porter Goss and told him 

of the great angst within CfC and rhe Dirccco;race of Opera­

tions about this issue, which at th:tt point had lingered more 

than two and a half years since it had first been raised. GossJ 
like Ius predecessor, was reportedl)' uncomfortable about or­
dering: the elimination of the tapes. Rizw decided co raise the 

issue again with the White House oounseJ, Harriet Miers. At 

the time, Miers was on the brink of being nominated as a Su­
preme Court justice. a nomination ::hat would be withdrawn a 
few months after ir was made. She apparendy told Rizzo that 
she. too, was uncomfortable with our ridding ourselves of the 
tape albarross jusl then. 1 say "app;.rently," because I have no 
recollection of Rizzo ever sharing with me her views, except for 

being told orally that she had .. not yet" given her okay. Years 

later, the speciql pr~ecutor who wo~ld be appointed to look 
into the maner surfaced a single email Rizw allegedly sem me: 
in 2005 saying Miers had expressed qualms, bur if I ever saw 
it (and I don't think I did), it made oo impact on me. Just an­
other lawyer saying: "I'd rather you not .... " 

In July there were meetings at the White House during 
which Rizzo and other CIA lawyers met with Miers and reps 

from the NSC and the vice presidl!nt's staff. The consensus, 
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I later learned, wa.s that while there v.--as no--repeat, no-­
requirement to retain the tapes, they recommended that the 
newly created directOr of national intelligence and the Office of 
the Attorney General be "briefed" before the dcstruaion took 
place. 

The DNI, Ambassador John Negroponte, reponedly rold 
Goss that he opposed the destruction o~ the tapes despite the 
assessment that there w~ no legal con:.uaint from doing so. 
My successor as chief of CTC told Negr~ponte that continued 
retention of the capes would be quite distressing to our em­

ployees who were depicted oo them and could place them and 
their families at risk In any case, Negroponre's objections were 
never conveyed to me as an "order," just an "opinion." 

The seemingly endless debate stretched on into the fall, now 
more chan three years after it had start..:d. At one point some 
lawyers suggested uansferri.ng the tape! from the field, where 
they had aiwa}'$ been, back to headquart(:rs. Fommatdy, that 
idea was dropped. Bringing them back to Washington would 
only ensUJ"e that the tapes would be copied, passed around, 
widely discussed, and most likely result in a decision on some­
one's part to officially rdease or to leak rhem. 

To say I was getting frustrated would be a massjve under­
statement. My chief of staff held a meeting with CTC lawyers 

and other parties and asked two questions; {1) Is the desnuc­
tion of the tapes legal? and (2) Did I, as director of the Nariona.l 
Clandestine Service, have the authority to make that decision 
on my own? The answer she got to both questions was: Yes. 

As must be abundantly dear by now, nothing :is that easy in 
Washington. In order to do what the field had asked us to do 
thirty-eight months before, we had to require them to ask us 
again. To make sure we got the right q\1estion, so ·ch<~.t we c:ould 
give rhe right answer, on Novtmber 4. ZOO'S, lawyers in CTC 
(we had our own lawyers ~0 wete;:eparate from the larger 
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contingent in the General Counsel's Office 

that could be sene to the field with insc.ructi . at thev cut 
. I 

and pasce the appropriate langw.ge from the cable and put it 
into their own cable back to us. 1he instructions basically we·re: 
"Ask us in this way and we will say yes." 1he draft language was 
sent ro the Office of th~ General Counsel for coordination at 
the same rime it was sent to rhe iidd . 

lhe next day,· a Saturday, the field dutifully sent a cable to 

headquarters asking for permissbn to desrroy the tapes. The 

language was just rigbt, -of <:ourse, since our lawyers had drafted 

it. I asked my chief of staff to prepare a cable granting permis­
sion. On most matters 1 would just instruct my staff on what 
action to take :tlld let them handle tbe administrative details. 
But this had been such an ordea that f wanted to personally 

handle what I thought was the end of a long bureaucratic 
nightmare. 

In fact it was just the beginning. My chief of staff drafted a 
cable approving the action that '\\C had been trying to accom­

plish for so long. The cable left nCithing to chance. It even told 
them how to get rid of the tapes. 'They were to use an industrial­

strength sh redder to do the det:d. On Tuesday, November 
8, after scrutinizing the caMe on my computer for a while, 

I thought about rhe decision. I '"as not depriving anyone of 
inforrrultion about what was done or what was said, I was just 
geuing rid of some ugly visuals t}-,ar could put dle lives of my 
people at risk. I took a deep breath of weary satjsfaction and hit 
Send. 

The next day, November 9, tht· field sent in a cable report­

ing that the shredder had done its work The machine, the 
likes of which have been in use a£ U.S. government facilities 

for more than thircy-fi.ve years, can chew through hundreds of 
pounds of material in a single hour. The device's five spinning 

and two stationary steel blades a.re designed ro chop up DVDs, 
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CDs, cell p hones, credit cards, X-ray:s, ;md other optical media ,,.. 
· and produce tiny, unrecognizable biits that are vacuumed ottt ,, 

into giant, heavy-duty, plastic crash bags. Our problem had 
been reduce~ to confetti--or so we thought. - -

Apparen tly we had gotten ahead of ourselves. We: had asked 
the Office of General Counsel to appwve me language we sene 

to the field pr.oviding the wording thev sent back to us asking 
permission to destroy the tapes. The day atter the tapes were 
destroyed, the General Counsel's Qffi,~e got around to telling 
us that our lmguage was okay. "That's good to hear," CTC of­
ficials told them, "because Jose directed the field to destroy the 
tapes pursuant to their request .and they did . .. yesterday." 

Although he didn't confront me, Rizzo reportedly was not 
:a happy camper. He told my chief of staff that he thought chat 
rhe ptan was that when the field made their request (again}, he 

would have a chance co review it (again) and take it to Goss for 
discussion (again). That wasn't my understanding and I wasn't 

going to sit around another three years waiting for people to 
get up the courage ro make. a decision thar I had been rold I 
~ould legally make on my own. 

Rizzo reportedly informed Harriet Miers at the White 
House that I had preempted the system's abilicy to dither about 
the decision further. At rhe time, I did nor directly hear any­

thing about my actions from the White House, five years later, 
I had an opportunity to discuss the matter with a very senior 

former member of the Bush Wh.ite House. I don't have permis­
sion to quote him by name but he confirmed my suspicions. 
He said that when senior White House and NSC officials 

heard about my action, there was a C•>ilective sigh of relief. He 
conveyed ro me that they were deligh :ed with what I had done. 
J~t as significantly, he confirmed my belief iliac ifl h.ad waited 

for them to give me the go-ahead. I would still be wairing. 
I recaiJ only one conversation about this mat[er with CIA 
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Chapter 5 

~ 
Psychological Evaluation 

m Miranda Waiver and Confession Cases 

I. BRUCE FRUMKIN 

Confessions and self-incriminating sLaLements to law enforcement carry 
great weight with the trier· of fact. They become important components of 
proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Kassin and Neumann (1997) 
helpeJ to demonstrate what is commonly believed tO be Lrue, that a confes­
sion is "d~vastating" to ·a defendant. Leo (1996) reporu that 80% of suspects 
waive their rights, whereas Wrigh tsman and Kassin (1993) report thot con­
fe.~~ions are produced in 50% of criminal cases and l!.re challenged in' court in 
20% of these cases. CaSsell (1996) , in a literature review, found that confes­
sions are need.ed in 24% of cases to produce convict ion. Leo studied l82 
criminal cases and fourid that the screngt:h of the evidence: without the use of 
confession was weak in )J% of rhe.~e C<'\se~. H e also found that su~-pects who 
incriminated themselves during im<:rrogarion were 20% more likely to be 
charged by prosecutors, and 26% more likely to be found guUry ami con­
victed. 

Both anecdotal and empirical data support what is amazing but in fact 
true: lonoc.ent people some times do confe,s to crimes tht>y did not commit. 
For example, in the ''Cenrral Park Jogger" case, five reens ages 14-16 were 
arrested. Each confessed ::.nd implicated the others on videotape in the crimt: 
of attacking and raping a jogger in New York City's Cenual P~rk on April 
19 , 1989. In '2002, Marias Reyes, a convicted murderer and rapist, admitted 
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that he wiJs responsible for the rape and :mack.of the woman. Reyt.'l>'s DNA 
matcheJ that obtained from the crime scene, :md the convictions of the five 
youth s were vacated on December 19, 2002. 

According to Ofshe and Leo (1997a), not only do suspecrs somerimes 
falsely confess co crimes they did not commit, but in fact they also seem to do 
so regularly. Ofshe a':ld Leo base their conclusion~ on case studies, laboratory 
rc:;carch, and their own work on a large number of probable or confirmed 
cases of false confessions. lt is impossible ro assess accurate ly the number or 
the percentage of false confessions, lx.-cause estimates of false confessions 
vary depending on the design of the study and how the false confessions were 
opera tionalized. Some researchers (Kassin & McNall, 1991) estimate that 
there are fewer than 30...{)0 false confessions J)l':r year, whereas another 
researcher (Cassell, 1996) reports that numbtr to be 3.\ high as 600. In the 
United States, there is no tally kept. of the number of suspects interrog~ted 
annually and now many of those result in a true confession, no confession, or 
false confession. ln many states and jurisdictions, police are nor required to 
record lhe conf~ions that suspects have :~llegcdly m:~de. A ~'Us~ct, de.spite 
law enforcement claims to the connary, may deny ever having confessed in 
the first place .. A conf<:ssion, unrecorded, may later become a challenged 
retracted confession. A confes.~ion is coMidered so crudDI in prosecution 
that weight is still given to that confession even when a defendant L~ seem­
ingly exonerated by DNA evidence. Notably, ju:n because a ~spect provide.'\ 
a false confession for one clement of the offerue, not all elements o( the 
a lleged offense are false. Thus, a confession is not nP.Cessarily completely true 
or false. There may be varying degrees of truth regarding certa in a~pc:cts of a 

confession. Finally, numerous instances of laboratory e"ors and/or fraud 
have been documenred. T herefore, someone who confesses and later retracts 

· the confession, but is not cleared by labora tory resuhs, may in fact still be 
innoc.e11t. 

Mental health profes.~ionals have been used to as~ist the court in cases 
in which the admissibility of a confession is d isputed. Although the fre­
quency of expert testimony varies between jurisdictions, psychologists are 
often used to assess a defendant's competency to have waiv~d Miranda rights 
at the time of the police questioning. Competency to waive testimony is 
generally offered pretrial at a suppression hearing. In certain circumstances, 
depending on the legal strategy of a defense au omcy, such testimony can be 
offered at the time of the erial as well. Psychologists are also used to evaluate 
psych ological factors that might be relevant in cases of alleged false and/or 
coerced confess1ons. Such expen testimony is usually offered at the ti.me of 
trial, but it may occasionally be offered pretrial, again, depending on the 
defense's legal s~egy. . 

CompareJ to evaluation in other areas of criminal forensic psychology 
(e.g., competency to srand ttial, insanicy, risk rlssessments), evaluat ing a 
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choiogist and the defense attorney that the purpose of the evaluation is to 
assi~t the attorney in "better planning for the case." Addiri.onally, it is best if 
the defense attorney keeps at a minimum any discussion pertaining to the 
Miranda righrs themselves. If an attorney educates the client by speaking 
about the rights that should have been invoked when with the police, it is 
more difficult for rhe psychologist to exr.rapolare from the defendant's cur­
rent knowledge what he or she knew when inr.eracting with the police. 

Record Review 

T he next step in the evaluation process is to seek relevanr. third-party data. 
The mo5t important piece of this data is a copy of the signed Miranda waiver 
form or a verbatim <.:opy of the wording used in an oral administration of the 
righrs. Since the complexity. of the wording of the warnings can vary greatly 
within and between jurisdictions, it is important that the psychologisl evah1c 
ate the defendant, in part, based on the rights actually given. If the warnings 
were· read, then a nun.•ber of readability formulas enable one to calcu­
late reading ease and ~rade \eve.l for a particular written passage. Both 
WordPerfect and Microscoft Word allow one to calculate a Flesch Re:Kling 
.Ease and Flesch- Kincaid Grade Level. score for any pa~gc: based on Fleach':s 
( 1994) calcularions. Obviously, the relative readabilitY of the Miranda pas· 
sage is important data if a defendant's reading comprehension or ability to 
decode written material is measured ar a level far below that of the particular 
Miranda rights read by the ~ubject. 

The psychologist -should attempt ··to obtain from the referring source 
copies of transcripts or records.of the i~terrogation, as well as the defendant's 
statements, to compare that with rhe defendant's version of wh~tl transpired. 
Unfortunately, relatively few jurisdictions record an individual's fir~t contacr 
with law enforcement. If tht!re is a recording or transcription, it may have 
been done afrer a preinterview, or after the first administration of the rights. 

In any ~·vent, audio- or vidcl;)taped recordings of the interrogation, if 
they exist, >Ire clearly the primary source for review, hecause transcripts may 

vary in accuracy and level to which they capture a suspect's emotional and 
cognitive state. lr. is important to ohtain transcripts of depositions, again, if 
they exist, of witnesses (poliet! officers, family members, ecc.) who observe<! 
the defendant as close to the time as possible when rights were administered. 
School records, work records, psychological and medical .records, and any 
and all rhin.l-party records that enable a clinician to better interptet the 
findings of the current evaluation are important to obtain. While it .is impor­
tant for the psychologist to obtain an arrest history of the defendant. 
research has sho~ (see Grisso, 1981) that there is. "no straightforward rela­
tion between Mi;:anda comprehension and · number of prior fdony arrests 
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